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Building Chronology of the Menger Hotel

1859

1871

1874-75

1881

1887

1897

1899

1909

1912

1943

1949-50

1953

1966-67

1988

1990

1992

The original two story, fifty room hotel was built.
The hotel quickly became so popular that a
three-story addition, directly behind, was built
soon after.

William A. Menger died.
Additional property was acquired to 'the north.

The hotel was sold to Major J. H. Kampmann.
The kitchen was relocated and a third story
added to the Alamo Plaza portion, along with a
three-story addition to the north.

A fourth story was added to Blum Street side.
Improvements included the addition of an
artesian well, steam laundry, electric lights, and
steam elevator.

The kitchen was remodeled and new fixtures and
furnishings were added to the dining room.

A fifty-room addition was built.

The noted architect, Alfred Giles, made
extensive changes to the hotel. To the exterior,
an ornamental marquee of ground floor and
iron was added. The original (south) lobby
was embellished with a new marble floor and
Renaissance-revival style details, including
Corinthian columns and filigreed balustrades.

Architect Atlee B. Ayres was commissioned to
renovate the dining room and add thirty rooms.

The hotel was purchased by W. L. Moody, Jr.
A four-story, 125-room addition was built, and
a new lobby and air conditioning throughout
the hotel was added. The bar was moved to the

Crockett Street side.

The Menger Patio Club and swimming pool were
added.

A five-story addition was built.

A massive restoration of the hotel was
completed. A new ballroom, several meeting
areas, and 33 rooms and suites were added.

Colonial Dining Room restoration.

Extensive renovation and restoration of the
original 1859 building and retail spaces.

A Suggested Self-Guided Tour of
The Menger Hotel

Although much of the architecture, history,
appointments and artifacts found at the Menger
Hotel certainly qualify as museum-quality, it
remains a public hotel - as it has been since 23
years after the fall of the Alamo.

Before beginning a tour of the Menger’s
delightful space, study the historic photographs
and other memorabilia in the glass cases in the
main lobby and other public areas. These include
fascinating pre-1900 photographs of the original
registration desk, the Victorian lobby, Colonial
Dining Room, basement kitchen, storeroom and

laundry.

Exterior of the Hotel

The Menger has evolved into the rambling structure of
today over a period of many years, and four of San Antonio’s
most important architects of the nineteenth and twentieth
centuries. John Fries, Alfred Giles, Atlee B. and Robert M.
Ayres are associated with the design of the Menger as you
see it today.

The original, fifty-room hotel built in 1859 is the two-
story limestone building located at the southwest corner of
the block. As you look at the hotel from Alamo Plaza, the
original part is to the right. Its classical design is attributed
to John Fries, San Antonio’s first architect of note, who is
credited with repairing the shattered ruins of the Alamo in
1850, giving the building its distinctively shaped parapet.
Fries also designed the City Market House in 1858, now
demolished and the Casino Hall building of the same year,
also demolished.

A glazed, iron canopy across the main floor, support on
iron columns, forms the balcony for the second floor with
original 1869 railings. The cantilevered, tile-roofed porch
over the second floor is supported on thin iron columns.
Initially, shutters, rather than awnings, provided shade
from the strong west sun. The canopy was added when
the hotel was remodeled in 1909 by architect Alfred Giles.
Interestingly, Blum Street, to the immediate right of the
building, served as a wagon yard for stage coaches, wagons,
carriages, and horses.

Atlee B. and Robert M. Ayres were commissioned in the
1950’s to design the portions to the north of the original
structure, including the main lobby.

Main Lobby

The main lobby was built during the 1949-53
improvements to the hotel, which also added a 125-room,
four-story wing and swimming pool to the east. The lobby
addition necessitated the removal of part of the portion of
the building constructed in the 1880s. The display case
surrounding the fireplace contains interesting photographs
and memorabilia from the Menger past.

Empire-style Credenzas

On the east wall, near the glass garden wall, is a fine
example of a walnut Empire-style credenza from England,
ca. 1830. The drawer pulls are a later addition.

On the west wall there hangs a four-panel painted
screen of French original, executed circa 1800-1930. The
scenes are typical of the late Baroque style. The wooden
frames are ornately carved and originally to the oil canvases.

0Oil Painting 1902

This painting, depicting a woman in triumph standing
on a roped calf, is by Chicago painter Frank Lewis Van Ness.
The frame, which is of the period, is of wide, flat oak and
made for this painting. Van Ness, a well-known portrait and
genre painter at the turn of the entry, studied under leading
portrait artist G.P.A. Healy.

The French Vitrine (display cabinet)

A ca. 1900 reproduction of the Louis XV style. It is
crafted of gilt bronze, ormolu-mounted mahogany. In the
cabinet is a valuable collection of Chinese porcelain, ca.
1940-60, referred to as role medallion-ware because of the
use of the famille rose palette combined with rich decoration
and extensive use of gilding. It was made in China, mainly
for export to Europe and North America. Its condition is
excellent. It likely was purchased by William Menger on one
of his buying trips to Europe.

Victorian Lobby

This magnificent three-story space is the original 1859
lobby of the Menger. Called the Victorian lobby because of its
roots in the second half of the nineteenth century, actually
it reflects the 1909 remodeling, designed by noted San
Antonio architect Alfred Giles. Giles transformed the simple
utilitarian space into a grander, neoclassical one which
showed the influence of the neoclassical style which was
popular then.

The room is oval in plan and dominated by eight
Corinthian columns. In historic photographs, taken prior
to the 1909 remodeling, the columns shown are of cast
iron and are fewer in number. The early columns were
simply enclosed by the more up-to-date plaster columns in
the neoclassical style, and several columns were added to
create symmetry, an important characteristic of neoclassical
design. The new columns are ornamented with festoons,
garlands, and modillions which are painted to resemble
stone. Decorative wrought iron scrollwork comprising the
balustrade is from the earlier Victorian period.

The leaded skylight was added as part of the 1909
alterations, as was the decorative tile floor, which extended
into the Colonial Room Restaurant. Tile continued to be used
frequently in public spaces during this period because of its
durability and decorativeness.

Many pieces of furniture in this lobby and throughout
the Menger are believed to have been purchased by William
Menger on his frequent buying trips to New York and Europe
in the 1860’s.

The Seth Thornas Clock

An early example of a double dial calendar tall clock.
The clock, which was custom-made and matched a
suite of furniture, has a case made of oak, handsomely
decorated with giiffin heads. Two of its matching pieces were
“discovered” in the hotel’s basement and restored.

French Cabinet

A stunning example of elaborate inlay and ebonized
marquetry, characteristic of Napoleon Ill-revival style which
was popular ca. 1865.

Victorian Walnut Settee

In the Empire style and showing the influence of
the High Victorian and rococo, it is a rare example of an
American piece from the 1870’s.

“Musicians in a Wine Cellar”
Oil on Canvas
ca. 1860-80

This Louis O. Kurz painting, depicting a woman
dispensing wine to two musicians, is by an Austrian artist
born in 1833. Kurz was a mural, scene, and decorative artist
who came to the United States in 1848. He was a founder of
the Chicago Art Institute and served in the Union Army. The
frame is of lovely carved wood and gesso, combining over a
dozen linear border patterns, including ears of corn.

“Venting Cattle on the Frisco System”
Oil on Canvas
1902

This F. L. Van Nees painting portrays cattle herding,
roping and branding. An interesting note is that this painting
was used in the scenery for the film, Giant, which starred
James Dean, Rock Hudson, and Elizabeth Taylor.

Colonial Room Restaurant

Built as an immediate addition to the original hotel,
the Colonial Room Restaurant was remodeled by noted
San Antonio architect Atlee B. Ayres in 1912 to reflect the
prevailing neoclassical style of that time. As part of the
remodeling, the original cast iron columns were enclosed by
wooden ones in the Greek Revival style, and carved wooden
dentils, arched window openings, and other decorative
millwork, and additional mirrors were added.

The resulting decor is typical of other fine old hotels of
that era such as the Algonquin in New York City and the
Bellevue-Stratford in Philadelphia. The modernization may
have occurred to counter the new hotels built in 1909, the
St. Anthony, The Crockett, and the Gunter.

The unusual plaster mantelpiece around the fireplace
features two caryatids, each topped by an Ionic capital.
Decorative scrollwork and a tablet with a nymph motif
further embellish the mantel, which originally was painted to
resemble wood graining.

Many elaborate balls and parties, hosted by San
Antonio’s social and political elite, were held in this room.
Often Spanish moss and other atmospheric flora were hung
from the columns to create setting for parties with elaborate
themes. Among the many celebrities who have dined here are
Presidents Grant and McKinley, General Robert E. Lee, and
French actress Sarah Bernhardt.

The Colonial Room of the Menger Hotel has been in
continuous use since it was opened. Many of the Menger
chefs came from Europe to create dishes which reflected the
German, Mexican, French, and American blend of cultures
found within San Antonio. By the late 1860’s, the hotel had
firmly established its culinary reputation. Known for its
wild game, the menu featured such exotic dishes as wild
turkey stuffed with chestnuts, potted antelope, and dried
buffalo tongue. Soup made from soft-shell turtles caught
from the nearby San Antonio River was one of the dining
room specialities. The Menger’s famous mango ice cream has
remained on the menu for over a hundred years.

Renaissance Room

Despite its name, this elegant second floor reception
room is most strongly influenced by the neoclassical style,
popular in America from about 1790-1830 and reborn as
Colonial Revival architecture after the influential Chicago
World’s Fair of 1893. The decorative plaster ornamentation
on the ceiling features abstracted urns, shells, lyres, and
anthemion (honeysuckle) motifs. The mantelpiece is identical
to the one found in the Colonial Room Restaurant.

The Menger Bar

In 1887 Major Hermann Kampmann decided that a new
taproom should be built within the hotel as a replica of the
House of Lords Pub in London. The architect, who was sent
to England to examine the pub, installed a paneled ceiling
of cherrywood, booths and beveled mirrors from France, and
decorated glass cabinets at a cost of $60,000. The cost and
craftsmanship of the bar reflect the contribution it made
to the life of the hotel. Specialties of the bar included mint
juleps served in silver tumblers in hot weather, and hot rum
toddies in the winter.

It was in this bar that Teddy Roosevelt recruited many of
his Rough Riders, volunteers for the first American volunteer
cavalry that fought in Cuba during the Spanish-American
War. Many of those who traveled with him for this purpose
were members of New York’s elite, including Hamilton Fish
and Cornelius Vanderbilt.

During Prohibition, the famous bar was disassembled. It
was moved, piece by piece, to the current location.

Events and Parties at the Menger

In 1871, the Menger was host to Generals William T.
Sherman, Ekin, Card and Carlton. A fifteen-gun salute on
Alamo Plaza in front of the hotel greeted the four.

In 1877, a two-day celebration of the arrival of the “iron
horse” to San Antonio, the railroad, was launched at the
Menger. Texas Governor R. H. Hubbard addressed the crowd
gathered on Alamo Plaza for the event from a front balcony
of the hotel. San Antonio Mayor J. M. French, the president
of the railroad, the U.S. cavalry and many others joined the
governor inside the Menger for the public reception honoring
the arrival of the railroad.

In 1906, the Menger was the setting for a debutante ball
given by Clare Driscoll in honor of Miss Eda Kampmann
and Katherine Yoakum. The San Antonio Express society
editor described the honorees as “two of the season’s most
beautiful and interesting debutantes, both of whom belong
to San Antonio families of great importance.” Miss Driscoll,
credited with saving the Alamo from demolition, wore a gown
of yellow net over taffeta, yellow flowers in her hair, and
exquisite lace and jewels. She carried a bouquet of white
hyacinths and maidenhair fern.
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